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Preface

With the Japanese invasion of the Philippines on December 8, 1941and the occupation 
that incurred thereafter, the Philippine Islands were run by a very strict military regime 
that saw the American Prisoners of War (POWs) and foreign nationals that were interned 
in POW and civilian internment camps suffer under the harshest conditions. The Filipino 
people themselves were mistreated, beaten, starved and killed by the hatred of the Japa-
nese military and government officials. Much has been documented and written about 
these POW camps and civilian internment camps. When the United States and her allies 
invaded the Philippines on October 20, 1944, liberation began, as did the defeat of the 
Japanese hold on the Philippines. A great many Japanese military personnel then were 
taken Prisoners of War; so were the Japanese civilians who had occupied and taken up 
residence in the Philippines. 
 Little has been written about these Japanese POWs until 1988, when Yano Fumi-
hiko published an essay entitled Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Phil-
ippine Islands, which appeared in Yubin Shigaku, the publication of the Postal History 
Society of Japan. With permission, this essay was revised and translated into English by 
Edward Rasmussen in 1990. This English version is not widely available, this topic is not 
widely collected. and the material discussed is uncommon, so I have decided to use the 
material within Fumihiko’s essay–supplemented with material from my collection and 
from other collectors–to tell the story during this period of Philippine history. Black-and-
white illustrations are used from the above publication. 
 After describing the Japanese POW mail, I will present the postal history of the War 
Crimes Trials.
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Foreword

After the Japanese invasion of the Philippines on December 8, 1941 and the following 
occupation, the Philippines was run by a very strict military regime that saw Ameri-
can POWs and foreign nationals interned in POW and civilian internment camps suffer 
under the harshest of conditions. Also, the Filipino population itself was mistreated, beat-
en, starved and killed by the Japanese military and government officials. Much has been 
told of these POW camps and civilian internment camps. When the United States and her 
allies began the invasion of the Philippines on October 20, 1944, liberation began and the 
defeat of the Japanese hold on the Philippines started. A great many Japanese military 
personnel were taken as Prisoners of War; Japanese civilians who had occupied the Phil-
ippines also were imprisoned. Little has been written about these Japanese POWs until 
1988, when Yano Fumihiko published his essay Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ 
Mail in the Philippine Islands, which appeared in Yubin Shigaku, the publication of the 
Postal History Society of Japan. 
 With permission, this essay was revised and translated into English by Edward J. 
Rasmussen in 1990. This English version is not widely available, and this topic is not 
widely collected and the material in discussion is uncommon. Therefore, I have incorpo-
rated Fumihiko’s essay into this publication and have supplemented it with material from 
my collection and from others. The black and white illustrations are from Fumihiko’s 
publication. I will first discuss the Japanese POW mail, and then go into the story with 
examples of postal history of the War Crimes Trials. 



The Liberation and Surrender
Liberation
The Second Quebec Conference (code named “Octagon”) was held at Quebec City, 
Canada from September 12–16, 1944. British Prime Minister Winston Churchill and Unit-
ed States President Franklin D.Roosevelt attended, along with their Joint Chiefs of Staff 
(JCS). This event was hosted by Canadian Prime Minister William Lyon Mackenzie King. 
During this conference, Washington received an intelligence report from the Pacific that 
stated that Japanese naval forces in and around the Philippine Islands were severely dam-
aged from previous campaigns and that the air defence around the Philippines was greatly 
hampered due to loss of aircraft and a lack of experienced pilots. The Japanese army had 
great strength and would pose the largest problem in the liberation of the Philippines. This 
information was relayed to the American delegation at Quebec City and upon receiving 
this information President Roosevelt and his JCS excused themselves and after much 
discussion decided to move the date forward by two months for the liberation of the Phil-
ippines to October 20, 1944. This information was relayed back to Washington and then 
to General MacArthur and Admiral Halsey. The date had been set and Operation King II 
(King Two) was now put into effect. 
 The morning of October 17th began with mine-sweeping tasks and movement of 
the 6th Rangers to three small islands in Leyte Gulf. The Rangers had taken the islands 
of Suluan and Dinagat. At Suluan, the Rangers overpowered a small defending Japanese 
force and destroyed their radio station. Dinagat was found to be unoccupied. On the next 
day, the third island–Homonhon–was taken with no opposition. The Rangers proceeded to 
erect navigation lights for amphibious transports to follow. Underwater demolition recon-
naissance teams relayed information that the landing beaches were clear for the assault 
troops. 
 On the morning of October 20, 1944, the big naval guns of the U.S. Seventh Fleet 
under Admiral Kinkaid opened fire on the east coast beaches of Leyte in the area of 
Tacloban. Fighter aircraft from the aircraft carriers began their attacks. Soon soldiers and 
equipment of the U.S. Sixth Army landed on the shores, establishing a beachhead and then 
proceeding inland. In the northern part of the Philippine Sea, the U.S. Third Fleet under 
Admiral Halsey prevented the Japanese navy from attacking the Seventh Fleet from the 
north. Figure 1 is a map showing the locations of the naval forces of both the American 
and Japanese navies during the naval battle at Leyte Gulf. The landings and the naval 
battles also involved ships of the following allied navies: Australia HMAS Shropshire, 
Australia, Arunta, Warramunga and Gascoyne, United Kingdom HMS Ariadne (mine 
layer) and the Netherlands HNLMS Sommelsdijck. As U.S. forces moved inland, Japanese 
soldiers and civilians were taken into custody by the advancing troops. A photo of one of 
the first Japanese prisoners to be captured on Leyte Island is illustrated in Figure 2. Also 
taking part in the landings were military observers of the Canadian and British Armies. 
These observers were throughout the Pacific taking account of the Japanese defence and 
fighting techniques, when the war in Europe would end their attention would then turn to 
the defeat of Japan. 1



Figure 1,   
Map displaying the engagements that comprised the Battle of Leyte Gulf. - Wikipedia 1
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Figure 2,  October 1944. -
One of the first Japanese prisoners to be brought in after Leyte Island was captured. Prior to his 
capture he had been attacked by a Filipino with a jungle knife; the bandages indicate the severity 
of the attack. - Australian War Memorial, photo 155427

 Over the next few days, many naval battles occurred in Leyte Gulf, which resulted 
in the sinking of Japanese vessels. The surviving Japanese sailors were rescued from the 
waters by the U.S. Navy. With the success of the land operations and the naval engage-
ments came the question of what to do with the captured Japanese (see the next section 
“The Camps”). 
 On October 23, Tacloban was made the interim capital of the Philippines. Even as 
this was taking place, fighting still raged on Leyte until December 25, 1944. That date 
was when Leyte was declared free of combating Japanese military personnel. Figure 3 
displays an October 20, 1944 photo of General MacArthur addressing the assembly in 
front of the Provincial Capital building at Tacloban on the occasion of handing over Civil 
Rights to President Osmeña. President Osmeña is to the right of General MacArthur. 
Figure 4 exhibits a photo (dated December 14, 1944) of Sergio Osmeña, President of the 
Commonwealth Government of the Philippines.



Figure 3,
 October 20, 1944, - General MacArthur addressing the assembly in front of the Provincial Capitol 
building at Tacloban on the occasion of handing over Civil Rights to President Osmeña. - Australian War 
Memorial, photo 017768

Figure 4,  
Sergio Osmeña, President of the Commonwealth Government of the Philippines, in hid office at the provin-
cial building in Tacloban, from which the government operated. - Australian War Memorial, photo 017894
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 A newspaper story, featured as Figure 5 describes the battles that had taken place 
in Leyte days after the landings. Tacloban welcomed the Americans as indicated by the 
newspaper story displayed as Figure 6.



Figure 5. 
Newspaper story featuring details of the battles taking place in Leyte, soon after the landings. - 

Morning Bulletin (Rockhampton, Queensland) October 26, 1944
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Figure 6. 
Newspaper story, discussing the reception the Americans received upon their arrival in Tacloban. -

Daily Mercury (Mackay, Queensland), October 24, 1944

 As mentioned in the newspaper story, “This afternoon several hundred Filipinos 
staged a parade in the business section of the city”. Figure 7 displays a photo of a Victory 
Parade at the newly-liberated city of Tacloban, the interim capital of the Philippines, 
while Figure 8 shows the Leyte Boys and Girls High Schools that housed No. 1 Wire-
less Units RAAF (Royal Australian Air Force) intelligence and code breaking personnel.
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Figure 8. 
October 1944. Leyte Boys and Girls High Schools used by No. 1 Wireless Unit RAAF for intelligence and 
code breaking personnel. – Australian War Memorial, photo P00954.029

Figure 7. 
October 22, 1944. Victory parade, Tacloban, the first capital city of the Philippines to be liberated by United 
States Forces from the Japanese. – Australian War Memorial, photo P00954.031



9

 The Australia House, “Home for Australians”, was a native building at Tacloban 
where Australian war correspondents and public relations officers met  (Figure 9).

Figure 9. 
November 20, 1944. Native building at Tacloban where Australian war correspondents of the three services 
and public relations officers would meet. Note the sign ‘AUSTRALIA HOUSE’ above the personnel. – Aus-
tralian War Memorial, photo OG1878i

 General MacArthur obtained intelligence information that the Japanese were going 
to kill all American POWs and foreign civilian internees in the camps. With this informa-
tion, a second front was established at Lingayen Gulf at the northwest corner of Luzon, 
Philippines. On January 9, 1945, the Battle of Lingayen commenced with the naval forces 
of the U.S. and Australia opening fire on the beaches and General Krueger’s Sixth Army 
landing and securing a beachhead. The race for Manila was now on. February 3rd saw 
American soldiers enter Manila and secure the Santo Tomas civilian internment camp (see 
Figure 10). The main Japanese force at Manila fled into the mountains north and east of 
the city.



Figure 10. 
Post card showing liberated civilian internees and American troops at Santo 
Tomas, February 3, 1945.

Surrender
On July 7, 1945 at Potsdam, Germany, the President of the United States, the Prime Min-
ister of Great Britain and the Premier of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics met and 
discussed many things, one of which included the military campaign against Japan. One 
result of this conference was that the Soviet Union would enter the war against Japan and 
another major result of this conference was the establishment of the “Potsdam Declara-
tion” in which President Truman and Prime Minister Atlee with concurrence of the Presi-
dent of the National Government of China issued a final ultimatum to the Japanese Gov-
ernment that gave Japan the choice of surrender or destruction. Japan’s not responding or 
accepting the terms of the Potsdam Declaration led the U.S. to drop the first atomic bomb 
on Hiroshima on August 6, 1945. No response from the Japanese to this attack forced the 
Americans to drop their second atomic bomb on Nagasaki on August 9th.
 On August 15, 1945, Japan notified the United States of their acceptance of surren-
der and the terms of the Potsdam Declaration. This same day the Emperor of Japan made 
a radio broadcast to the Japanese people and to the military in the homeland and in all 
foreign soils to cease combat and that Japan has surrendered to the Allied Powers and to 
lay down their arms and work towards peace for the future. Also, on the same day, General 
MacArthur was made Supreme Commander for the Allied Powers (SCAP).2

 On August 17, General MacArthur directed Japan to send to Manila “a competent 
representative empowered to receive in the name of the Emperor of Japan, the Japanese 
Imperial Government, and the Japanese Imperial General Headquarters certain require-
ments for carrying into effect the terms of surrender.” An Australian newspaper article 
reports that a Japanese envoy would be leaving Japan for Manila as exhibited in Figure 11.
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Figure 11 
 Newspaper article giving scant details of a Japanese envoy leaving Japan for Manila to obtain the article of 
surrender. – News (Adelaide), August 18, 1945



Figure 11
Newspaper article giving scant details of a Japanese envoy leaving Japan for Manila to obtain the article 
of surrender. – News (Adelaide), August 18, 1945
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 On August 19th at 1800 hours, a U.S. Army transport plane landed at Nichols Field 
from Shima, Japan with 16 members of the Japanese surrender delegation on board. Their 
identities were quickly checked and they immediately were transported to temporary quar-
ters on Dewey Boulevard, Manila and within three hours “the Manila Conference” began. 
On August 20th at 1300 hours, the Japanese surrender delegation was on its way to Japan 
with all the necessary surrender documents, The Manila Conference was over. Figures 12 
and 13 show members of the Japanese surrender delegation arriving at Nichols field.
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Figure 12.
Members of the Japanese surrender party arrived at Nichols Field to attend The 
Manila Conference. The Japanese officer leading this delegation was Lt. Gen. Torashiro Kawabe, Vice 
Chief of the Japanese Imperial General Staff. – Australian War Memorial, photo P1443.603

Figure 13. 
Members of the Japanese surrender delegation arrived at Nichols Field to attend The Manila Confer-
ence. – Australian War Memorial, photo P01443.060



 The Manila Conference had taken place at General MacArthur’s headquarters at the 
Manila City Hall. Two photos that show Japanese surrender delegates are shown here as 
Figures 14 and 15.

 Figure 14. 
A Japanese interpreter explains terms to the Japanese surrender party, watched by U.S. General C. A. 
Willoughby. – Australian War Memorial, photo P01443.061

Figure 15. 
Members of the Japanese surrender party being led into Manila City Hall by U.S. General C. A. Willoughby. 
– Australian War Memorial, photo P01443.065
14



 With the Emperor’s proclamation of August 15th, Japanese military commanders 
began the process of surrendering their forces to the allies throughout the Western Pacific 
and Southwest Pacific areas. In the Philippines, General MacArthur had ordered General 
Styer who was commanding the Army Force of the Western Pacific (AFWP) to receive
the surrender of the remaining Japanese forces in the Philippines.
 After hearing the Emperor’s proclamation, many Japanese commanders began sur-
rendering their forces throughout the Philippines. The commanding officer of approxi-
mately 4,000 air force personnel on Mindanao began negotiations to surrender his troops. 
Rear Admiral Takasue Furuse, who was in command of approximately 1,500 naval per-
sonnel in the Infanta area of southern Luzon, commenced talks of surrender with the gue-
rilla organization. On September 1, Japanese forces on Bataan agreed to surrender their 
weapons on this day and Major General Shintaro Yuguchi, commander in the Cayagan 
Valley stated that he would surrender his forces when he had received word from Gen-
eral Yamashita. On September 2nd, Colonel Matsui–commander of Japanese forces in the 
southern part of the Cayagan Valley–surrendered his troops to the U.S. 27th Division. A 
further 2,300 Japanese troops located north in the Dummum River and Capisayan District 
sent a message that they would surrender themselves during the period of September 2nd-
6th.2

 With the message from the Emperor and surrendering taking place throughout the 
Philippines, General Yamashita–commander of the 14th Imperial Japanese Army–made no 
attempt to contact to surrender his forces.2

 After locating General Yamashita’s headquarters, on August 24th Major  General 
William H. Gill, commander of the 32nd Division, had a message air-dropped requesting 
that contact be made to discuss the terms of surrender. The following day a second letter 
was dropped requesting Yamashita to send a representative to discuss the surrender of 
forces under his control. Eventually, on August 26th a Japanese representative from
Yamashita arrived at an outpost near Kiangan where he presented a letter to be given to 
Major General Gill, acknowledging the receipt of the two previous messages and that he 
had no authority to surrender his troops until the signing of the surrender in Tokyo. After 
much discussion, Yamashita agreed to meet with American military personnel on Septem-
ber 2nd at Kiangan and was willing to proceed to Baguio to sign surrender papers for
the Japanese military forces in the Philippines.2  

 On September 2 at 0900, General Yamashita along with his Chief of Staff Lt. Gen-
eral Akira Muto and other staff officers delivered themselves to an escort of the 32nd Divi-
sion near Kiangan. A party of naval personnel under Vice Admiral Denhichi Okochi also 
appeared. From Kiangan the Japanese were transported to Bagabag Airfield, where they 
boarded a C-47 transport plane to take them to Baguio.2

 General Styer, who had attended the surrender in Tokyo, flew back to Manila on 
the morning of September 3rd accompanied by General Wainwright and General Per-
cival. Upon arrival they immediately boarded a plane for Baguio. At noon at the former 
residence of the U.S. High Commissioner at Camp John Hay, the American and Japanese 
officers metto sign the surrender of the Philippines.2
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 A newspaper story displayed as Figure 16 tells the story of Yamashita signing the 
surrender documents. Figure 17 is a photo of General Yamashita signing the document of 
the surrender of the Japanese forces in the Philippines

Figure 16.  
Newspaper story of the Japanese surrender in the Philippines. – Daily Mercury, (Mackay 
Queensland), September 4, 1945
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Figure 17. 
The Japanese commander, General Tomooyuki Yamashita, is seated in the middle on the near side of the 
table. Seated on the opposite side, second from left, is Lieutenant General Jonathan M. Wainright, U.S. 
Army. Toward the right end of the table, immediately to the left of Gen. Yamashita’s head, is Commodore 
Norman C. Gillette, USN, Deputy Commander, Philippine Sea Frontier. – 
U.S. Naval Historical Center, photo NH 97276

 Three hours after the acceptance of the terms and signing of the surrender papers, 
the Japanese delegates were flown to Nielson Airfield in Manila and then transported to 
New Bilibid Prison, where they were incarcerated to be held for war crimes trials. [Ed 
note: the trials of General Yamashita and Muto will be detailed under the War Crimes and 
Trials section.]
 After the official surrender, more Japanese troops surrendered: 2,900 in Cebu; 1,400 
in Negros; on Mindanao 4,000 troops in Davao Province; 2,000 in the Agusan Valley; and 
in excess of 1,000 air force personnel in the mountains northwest of Davao. 
 After the formal surrender of the Japanese Military forces on September 3, 1945, 
arrangements were made for the detained military personnel to begin sending mail home 
to their families and receiving mail. These mailings were to begin in October 1945, with 
the first ship returning to Japan from Manila on the 13th of October. From then on, POW 
mail was carried aboard ships involved with repatriation duties. [Ed note: This discussion 
will take place under the section The Mails.]
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THE POW CAMPS
Prior to October 20th, there were 462,935 Japanese troops stationed in the Philippines, 
336,352 of whom were killed (see Figure 18); 12,573 were taken prisoner in combat and 
114,010 surrendered after the armistice on August 15, 1945.3

Figure 18. 
Map of Japanese personnel total, death and statistics. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel 
Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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 From January 9, 1945, after the Lingayen landings, Japanese soldiers were sur-
rendering in large numbers and facilities for their imprisonment had to be constructed,
Figure 19 shows a breakdown of Japanese soldiers who had surrendered in combat and after 
August 15, 1945 throughout the Philippines.3

Figure 19. 
Map showing a breakdown of the number of Japanese soldiers who surrendered in combat 
and after August 15 th. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philip-
pine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3



 Figure 20   illustrates a breakdown of the various camps, dates and gathering 
locations after August 15th for the assembly of the Japanese soldiers.3
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Figure 20. 
Map showing a breakdown of the various camps 
and the gathering locations (with dates) after Au-
gust 15 th. – courtesy of Japanese Military Person-
nel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano 
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 About 30 kilometers south of Tacloban, the first POW camp was constructed at 
Dulag to hold these Japanese POWs. 
 The island of Leyte saw four POW camps built to hold Japanese POWs, Dulag, 
Palo, Tanauan and Tacloban. Figure 21 illustrates a breakdown of the camps on Leyte, 
Luzon and Mindanao.3

Figure 21.  
Map showing the various Japanese POW camps. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ 
Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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 As illustrated in Figure 20 Japanese POW camps were created in great numbers 
throughout Leyte and Luzon. The camps created in Luzon were referred to as LUPOW 
(LUZON POW), which comprised Cabuyao, Calamba and Canlubang. Los Baños and 
Muntinlupa were in Laguna Province south of Laguna de Bay and at Mandaluyong, a sub-
urb of Manila. Illustrated as Figure 22 is the sign to the entrance of LUZON  POW CAMP 
#1. The camps on Leyte were near Tacloban and on Mindanao at Daliao, near Davao City.4

Figure 22. 
 Sign at the front entrance of LUPOW #1 Camp. 
– Source unknown

 Japanese POWs lining up for food at Camp No. 1, Canlubang, Laguna are shown in 
Figure 23. An ink sketch of the POW Hospital at Canlubang is displayed as Figure 24.3

Figure 23. 
 Japanese POWs line up for food at LUPOW #1, Canlubang Camp. – Source unknown

LUZON POW CAMP #1

MAIN ENTRANCE

SPEED LIMIT 10 MPH
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Figure 24.  
Sketch of the POW Hospital at Canlubang, taken from the cover of Fumihiko’s publication. – 
courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3

 Figure 25 shows a cover from one of the guards at Luzon POW Cp. #1 (LUPOW 
#1), postmarked August 23, 1945, shortly after the Japanese surrender

Figure  25. 
Cover postmarked August 23, 1945 from Luzon POW Cp. #1, A.P.O. 75 rated 6¢ air mail to Utah.
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 Figure 26 displays a December 1944 censored “V-MAIL” air mail letter from a 
member of the P.W.P.Co. (Prisoner of War Processing Company) “164 P.W.P.Co. A.P.O. 
72 / c/o pm San Francisco, Calif to San Diego.”  It is endorsed FREE because it was 
mailed from the field. A.P.O. 72 was located at Tacloban at this time.

Figure 26. 
Censored 1944 Christmas 
V-MAIL air mail letter 
form used by a member of 
the Prisoner of War Pro-
cessing Company at A.P.O. 
72 located at Tacloban.

 By the end of March 1945, approximately 700 captured army and navy personnel 
were confined to the camp at Tanauan, and just before the official surrender that number 
reached 2,000.
 A photo of Japanese POWs cleaning up the streets in Manila from Japanese 
destruction is featured in 
a newspaper story entitled 
“Japanese War Prisoners 
Work in Manila” 
(Figure 27).

Figure 27. 
Newspaper photo and caption 
“Japanese War Prisoners Work in 
Manila”. – Muswellbrook Chronicle 
(New South Wales), June 19, 1945
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 Many of the Japanese soldiers who were captured were interned in POW camps. 
Some were sent to work in the construction of the 3rd Australian Reception Camp at the 
U.S. Army 5th Replacement Depot about 20 miles from Manila. This camp was a repatria-
tion camp for British and British Commonwealth liberated POWs from the Far East, and 
was under the command of the Australian Army. Liberated British, Canadian, Australian, 
New Zealand, South African, and East Indian POWs were repatriated from this camp, 
often referred to by the residents as “The Empire Camp”. Figures 28 and “29 illustrate 
Japanese POWs working at this facility.

 Figures 28 and 29. 
Photos of Japanese 
POWs working on the 
construction of the 3rd 
Australian Reception 
camp for liberated Brit-
ish and British Com-
monwealth POWS pri-
or to their arrival from 
Japan and the occupied 
territories in the Far 
East. – Australian War 
Memorial, photo 019044 
and 019045
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 As Japanese military personnel were surrendering, the big question to both the Phil-
ippine and U.S. governments was “how and when do we repatriate these Japanese?” In a 
New Zealand newspaper story of October 18, 1945 entitled “Japanese Repatriation Sched-
ule”, there is a listing of repatriations as displayed in Figure 30. The story had no reference 
to how many were to be repatriated from the Philippines, but gave a date of February 1947. 
A few days later, a further story appeared in an Australian newspaper providing a figure of 
138,000 Japanese war prisoners to be repatriated, but giving no date (see Figure 31). Re-
patriation of the POWs in the Philippines to Japan had begun on October 13, 1945 and was 
completed by June 30, 1947. These dates applied to regular Japanese soldiers; those held 
and tried for war crimes were still confined until they were pardoned or were transferred to 
Japan to complete their sentences. Those who were deemed to be war criminals were held 
until a much later date. They were transferred to the New Bilibid Prison at Muntinlupa, 
Rizal. [Ed note: this discussion is continued under the heading War Crimes and Trials.]

Figure 30. 
New Zealand newspaper story outlining the repatriation of Jap-
anese prisoners from oversea. No numbers of Japanese troops 
from the Philippines were given, but a date of February 1947 
was mentioned. – Evening Post (New Zealand), October 18, 1945

Figure 31. 
 Australian newspaper story discussing 
the number of Japanese prisoners from 
the Philippines who were to be repatri-
ated, but no date was mentioned. – 
West Australian (Perth, West Australia), 
October 29, 1945
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 An example of mail from a camp being used late is displayed as Figure 32. It was 
written by a senior American officer at LUPOW Camp #2, dated September 20, 1946, 
one year after the war was over. An undated postmarked cover from 1946 is depicted as 
Figure 33, from a member of the Military Police guard at Camp 1, with a return address 
of Hq, Det. 602 M.P. Bn., Luzon P.O.W. Cp. #1.

Figure 32.
 An example of a cover from a senior American officer at LUPOW Camp #2,

 sent well after the war was over.

Figue 33. 
An example of a 1946-usage cover from an M.P. guard at Luzon P.O.W. Camp #1.
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 Plans for the repatriation of Japanese civilians and military personnel (other than 
those arrested for war crimes) began immediately after the signing of the surrender treaty. 
Figure 34 exhibits a newspaper story that tells of two stripped-down Japanese destroyers 
arriving and leaving Manila with Japanese civilians for the trip home to Japan.

Figure 34. 
Newspaper clipping detailing the arrival in the Philippines of the first ships to re-
patriate Japanese civilians to Japan. – Daily Telegraph (Sydney), October 14, 1945
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 Many of the Japanese POWs were repatriated to Japan by American ships at the 
cost of the Japanese government. One of these repatriations was performed by an Ameri-
can ship as illustrated in Figure 35; the John L. Sullivan departed Manila on April 2, 1946 
proceeding to Tacloban, where she picked up Japanese POWs from LUPOW #1 and also 
7 army generals, 16 officers, 3 civilians and Japanese Red Cross nurses.5 [Ed note: The 
SS John L. Sullivan was named after the famous heavyweight champion boxer.]

Figure 35. 
Photo of the SS John L. Sullivan, at Manila prior to proceeding to Tacloban to repatriate 
Japanese POWs. – courtesy www.pacificwrecks.com

 By the end of 1946, virtually all Japanese civilians and POWs had been repatriated 
to Japan. It was estimated that 665 Japanese still remained in the Philippines, being held 
for suspected war crimes or as witnesses to the atrocities. 
 A newspaper account from January of 1947 mentions the repatriation of over 
900,000 Japanese to Japan from the Western Pacific areas under United States jurisdic-
tion, as detailed in Figure 36.
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Figure 36. 
Newspaper clipping announcing the completion of 
the repatriation of all Japanese from the Western 
Pacific area under U.S. jurisdiction. – Sydney 
Morning Herald (NSW), January 10, 1947

[Ed note: The above repatriation information accounts for Japanese civilians and Japanese 
military personnel not involved with war crimes. The repatriation of those Japanese mili-
tary personnel involved with war crimes will be detailed under the Pardon section in the 
War Crime Trials chapter.]
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THE MAILS
In this section, I have not tried to explain the postal rates, as it can be seen from the 
postage on the covers and postcards that there is no uniformity. Even though postal rates 
may/were established, they may not have been adhered to due to lack of postage stamps 
and postal information, Figure 37 shows the postal rates that existed at the time

Figure 37. 
Chart showing the Japanese post war postal rates.

 The Japanese time period discussed in this essay is often referred to as the Shōwa 
era and existed for the reign of Emperor Shōwa (Hirihito) which began December 25, 
1926 and lasted until his death on January 7, 1989. The dates in the postal markings from 
Japan are in Shōwa years. For example, the date shown in Figure 38 is 20-11-22; add 25 
to the first two digits to get the Gregorian year of 1945. In this example, the year is re-
ferred to as Shōwa 20 which is 1945. The Gregorian calendar years and the Shōwa years 
for the period of 1941 to 1953 are illustrated in Figure 39.
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Figure 38. 
An example of a postmark in the Shōwa 20 
year which is 1945. – courtesy Ed Nocom

Figure 39. 
A chart showing the Gregorian calendar year 
and the corresponding Shōwa years. –
 courtesy Brian Plain
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 Censorship marks on these covers and cards can be referred to as the “PC Shield” or 
“Fish Bowl” type and are usually followed with a line above the Shield “C.C.D. J – ###”, 
in which the “C.C.D.” indicates Civil Censorship Department and the letter “J” indicates 
it was censored in Japan. Without the “J” a letter may have been censored in the Philip-
pines or may also have been censored in Japan. Figure 40 show the two types of Shield 
censor markings.

Figure 40.
Censor markings which were used on incoming 

mail from Japan to POWs in the Philippines.

Japanese mails for the POWs in the Philippines were kept in storage facilities at the Japa-
nese Post offices, and under orders from GHQ, SCAP (Supreme Commander for the Al-
lied Powers) dated October 28, 1945 which stated that the sending of these mails could 
begin on November 16, 1945. An example of this order is shown as Figure 41.3
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Figure 41.  
An example of the SCAP order for the restarting of mail services between the Japanese homeland and for-
merly occupied territories. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands 
by Yano Fumihiko3

Mail destined for Japanese POWs in the Philippines can be classified into four main types:
1) mail that had been posted prior to surrender and delivered to the POW in the Philip-
pines after surrender;
2) mail posted after surrender and addressed to a POW’s battle unit during the period 
when mail was suspended from August 16 to November 15, 1945;
3) mail posted after the Communications Board Bulletin of November 16, 1945, see 
Figure 41; and
4) mail properly addressed to a POW awaiting repatriation and including Name of POW, 
POW Camp, A.P.O. Number.
[Ed note: when describing covers and postcards throughout this essay, I will refer to the 
above classifications as follows: Classification 1.]



35

 Mail that was addressed by the above conditions and could not be delivered was to 
have been burned in large drums under military supervision, but as can be seen from the 
material in the market place a lot of this mail did not make the burning stage.
 Upon surrender, Japanese soldiers were placed into POW camps and were unable 
to communicate with their family members in Japan and give them the necessary infor-
mation about where they were being held and how to properly address their mail. Family 
members did not know whether their son(s) or husband was alive or dead and often sent 
mail to the last known address, which was the military unit or regiment. The U.S. forces 
kept records of the various military units and what camps they were in and in a lot of cases 
had the mail delivered to POWs there.   
 Illustrated as Figure 42 is a 10 sen rated cover that falls into Classification 1, 
posted during war time and was to have been delivered after the resumption of mail ser-
vices. It was posted at Kyoto, Japan with a year of Shōwa 20, dated 20-07-13 (July 13, 
1945) to a captured soldier, code 10680: 14 Army Field Ordinance Depot. The postcard 
was censored in the Philippines after the surrender by the U.S. Army censor with the PC 
Shield censor hand stamp. With a July date of posting, this cover was held in Japan and 
delivered after the November 16th date of resumption of mail services.

Figure 42. 
 A postmarked cover with a year of Shōwa 
20 dated 20-07-13 (July 13, 1945) posted 
while the war was still in progress and 
held in Japan.
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Displayed as Figure 43 is a 3 sen postcard up rated 2 sen from Japan to a civilian in the 
Philippines posted after the surrender of Japanese forces and prior to the resumption of 
mail services, with a year of Shōwa 20, postmarked 20-10-1 (October 1, 1945) (Clas-
sification 2). This postcard is from Tatsumo Nishimura, Omi-aza, Ubara-mura, Amata-
gun, Kyoto-fu to Minoru Nishimura and Sugimoto Eizo, c/o Kuro Post Office 43-15-24, 
c/o Furukawa Development Co. Ltd., Post Office Box 100, Davao, Philippines. This is a 
scarce example of a postcard to an interned civilian. 

Figure 43. 
A scarce postcard to a civilian internee at Davao, post-
marked with a year of Shōwa 20 dated 20-10-1 (Octo-
ber 1, 1945) prior to the resumption of mail services to 
POWs. – Ed Nocom collection
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 Shown as Figure 44 is a first-day postcard posted on the day of the resumption of 
mail services between Japan and the POWs in the former occupied territories, 3 sen post-
card up rated 10 sen for 13 sen, with a year of Shōwa 20 dated 20-11-16 (November 16, 
1945) from Nakano to the Philippines (Classification 3)

Figure 44. 
Postcard postmarked on the first day of mail services 
from Japan to POWs in the former occupied territories, 
with a year of Shōwa 20 dated 20-11-16 (November 16, 
1945), from Nakano, Japan. – Ed Nocom collection
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Figure 44A. 
Properly rated postcard at 15 sen,  postmarked on 
the first day of mail services from Japan to POWs 
in the former occupied territories, with a year of 
Shōwa 20 dated 20-11-16 (November 16, 1945), from 
Yamanashi-ken, Japan.

 Illustrated as Figure 44A is another first-day postcard posted on November 16, 
1945, properly rated at the 15 sen overseas rate to a Japanese POW in the Philippines. This 
card is from Miyoko OBA, Shioguchi-cho 504, Higashiyamanashi-gun, Yamanashi-ken, 
Japan.
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 The previous two postcards illustrated a postal rate of 13 sen and 15 sen while this 
next example displays a postal stationery card rate of 3 sen, featured as Figure 45 posted 
at Futatsue Shōwa 20 dated 20-11-20 from Sanno Akibayashi, Hiroi-aza, Futatsue-machi, 
Yamamoto-gun, Akita-ken, to Kokaji Akibayshi, Philippine Expedition I-7259 Unit, A 
Unit. There is no censor marking on this card so I do not know if this postcard ever got 
into the mail system as it was underpaid (Classification 3).

Figure 45. 
Postcard postmarked four days after the resumption of 
mail services from Japan to POWs in the former occu-
pied territories. This postcard may not have been deliv-
ered because there is no censorship marking, possibly 
because the card was short paid. – Ed Nocom collection
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 Figure 46 illustrates a 5 sen post card uprated with 10 sen in adhesives to form a 
15 sen postal rate. The card is from Japan, city unclear, postdated Shōwa 20 20-12-20 
(December 20, 1945), from Masatoshi Onishi, Mishimamura, Mima-gun to Masatoshi 
Onishi, Hyo-12023 Unit Philippines Expecitionary Force (Classification 3). The Shōwa 
year in the postmark has been damaged and above the date stamp a handstamp “20” was 
added to indicate the year; this shows the importance of the year to the Japanese.

Figure 46. 
Japanese postcard to the Philippines with a damaged 
Shōwa year and then the “20” handstamped 
above the dater. – Ed Nocom collection
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 Postal cards were the only type of mail that could be sent at first, but the odd 
cover did get through as exhibited in Figures “47 and 48, both 10 sen rated covers, 
Figure 47 is from Okayama, Japan, with a year of Shōwa 20 dated 20-10-25 (Oc-
tober 25, 1945) going to a captured soldier with code 16603 I: 103 Airfield Bat-
talion, 2 Flying Division. Figure 48 was posted in Japan with a year of Shōwa 
20, dated 20-11-6 (November 6, 1945) to a captured soldier code 10612 I: South-
ern Area 12 Military Hospital. Both covers were posted prior to the resumption of 
mail services and were held in storage until November 16, 1945 (Classification 2).

Figure 47. 
Ten sen rated cover to a Japanese 
soldier in an airfield battalio
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Figure 48. 
Ten sen rated cover to a Japanese soldier in a 
Military Hospital unit.
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 With the mail now being allowed to be sent to the Philippines, virtually all of it 
could not be delivered because it was addressed to the soldier’s unit; since they were now 
in prison camps, their mail could not be delivered and was to have been destroyed. An 
example of POW mail addressed to a soldier in a military unit from Japan, to “Mr. Meguro 
Masao, Ph, Ind. Quick Firer, 25th Battalion Head Office”, with a year of Shōwa 20 dated 
20-12-23 (December 23, 1945), postcard is a 2 sen Red Warrior up rated 3 sen in adhe-
sives for a total of 5 sen, illustrated as Figure 49. (Classification 3).

Figure 49. 
Two sen Red Warrior postcard up rated 3 sen for the 
5 sen postcard rate to a POW internee, Meguro Ma-
sao, Ph. Ind. Quick Firer, 25th Battalion, Head Office
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 Figure 50 exhibits a 14 sen rated postcard to an army hospital in Baguio, with a 
year of Shōwa 20, dated 20-12-21 (December 21, 1945) on which part of the message is 
“Looking force HITO (Philippines) dispatch I 7208 force OOTA unit, Mr. Okado Haruo.”, 
(Classification 3).

Figure 50. 
Fourteen sen rated postcard addressed to a Japanese 
military unit.
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 Many Japanese officers were detained in separate camps from the regular en-
listed men, or if they were in a mixed camp they were detained in separate quarters. 
Many of these officers were being held on war-crime charges or may have been deemed 
a threat to peace because of their loyalty to Japan. These officers were held in the camps 
much longer than the regular soldiers and as such they were able to receive letters and 
to inform their family members about the camps in which they were being detained 
at as exhibited in Figure 51. This is a postcard from Tokyo, with a year of Shōwa 22, 
dated 22-11-01 (November 1, 1947) to Mr. Yato Kato at LUZON POW CAMP NO. 1 
/ Philippines Island / APO 900 which was located at Manila. The postcard was noted 
as received on December 8th (Classification 4). Luzon Camp No. 1 was at Calamba.

Figure 51. 
 A 50 sen postcard up rated 1 yen 50 sen (50 + 1.50 = 
2 yen) from Tokyo to Luzon POW Camp 1, APO 900, 
which was located at Manila.
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 Figure 52 shows a cover postmarked with a year of Shōwa 22, dated stamp 22-4-17 
(April 17, 1947) rated 1 yen 20 sen from Japan to the Philippines, (Classification 3).

Figure 52. 
Cover posted in 1947 to a Japanese POW in the 
Philippines, with the Japanese style date stamp
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 Exhibited as Figures 53, 54 and 54A are three bilingually addressed postcards to 
POWs. Figure 53 shows a 5 sen postcard uprated with 10 sen in adhesives to make up 
a 15 sen postcard rate, with a year of Shōwa 20, dated 20-12-26 (December 26, 1945) 
from Osaka-city Suburb Minoo Village to a Tacloban Internment Camp on Leyte Island. 
(I believe that the receiver Masayuki Nakamura was a civilian internee) (Classification 
4). Figure 54 also displays a bilingually addressed 2 sen postcard uprated with 13 sen in 
adhesives for a 15 sen postcard rate, with a year of Shōwa 20, dated 20-12-19 (December 
19, 1945) from Takoaka, Japan to a POW at Compound No. 10, Luzon P.W. Camp No. 1, 
A.P.O. 75, (Classification 4). Figure 54A exhibits a 3 sen postcard uprated with a 2 sen 
adhesive (still short paid and allowed to pass through the mails), showa dated 20-11-26 
(November 26, 1945) from Japan to a Japanese officer at POW Camp 3 at the Leyte De-
tention Center, A.P.O. 72, (Classification 4).

Figure 53.
A 15 sen rated bilingually addressed postcard from 

Japan to an individual at Tacloban. – source unknown
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Figure 54. 
A 15 sen rated bilingually addressed postcard from Japan to a POW 

at Compound No. 10, Luzon P.W. Camp, A.P.O. No. 75. – 
source unknown

Figure 54A. 
A 5 sen rated bilingually addressed postcard from Japan to a POW at P.O.W. Camp 

3, Letye Detention Center, A.P.O. 72
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 Mail could be sent from Japan to POWs in the Philippines from November 16, 
1945 in which there is no location or camp name as to where the POW is being held. 
The following two examples of this type of mail are illustrated as the bilingually named 
postcard in Figure 55 on which the only information in English is the name of the POW 
and his unit number, Hi-To Haken, Ji-15311 Butai Yamamoto Butai (Manila Air Depot). 
It is a 3 sen postcard uprated 2 sen in adhesives for a 5 sen rate, with a year of Shōwa 20, 
dated 20-11-22 (November 22, 1945), (Classification 3).  Figure 55A illustrates a 3 sen 
postcard uprated with a 2 sen adhesive (still short paid and allowed to pass through the 
mails), showa date unclear from Kurita District, Shiga Perfecture, Japan to a Japanese 
POW soldier. This example also does not have the location or name of the camp  in which 
he is interned, (Classification 3).

Figure 55. 
A 5 sen rated bilingually addressed postcard from Japan 
to a POW in which there is no mention of the location or 
camp as to where this POW is being held. – source un-
known
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Figure 55A. 
A 5 sen rated bilingually addressed postcard from Ja-
pan to a POW in which no camp or location has been 
specified.

 With thousands upon thousands of Japanese soldiers being held as POWs through-
out the far east and Asia, civilian postcards and adhesive stamps started to become deplet-
ed and Gunji Yuban (military mail postcards) were authorized to be used for which postal 
fees were paid at the post office; two such examples are exhibited as Figures 56 and 57. 
Figure 56 is from Tokushima, Japan postmarked with a year of Shōwa 20, dated stamp of 
20-11-22 (November 22, 1945) sent to a soldier by the name of Yamaguchi with a Philippine 
military address code, Shun 10679: 79th Infantry Brigade, 103 Division, Luzon. A second 
postal marking is hand stamped over the printed Japanese equivalent of “Military Mail”; 
this circular hand stamp indicating FEE PAID is in the center of the marking. This leads 
one to believe that the postcards and adhesives used by civilians were depleted or close 
to being depleted at this post office and the use of the old Gunji Yuban military postcards 
was necessary to correspond with the Japanese POWs in the Philippines (Classification 3).
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Figure 56. 
Gunji Yuban military postcard used to correspond with a Japanese POW in the 
Philippines, for which a postage fee was paid to the post office as indicated by the 
second postal marking

 A second example of a Gunji Yuban used for post-war correspondence to 
a Japanese POW in the Philippines is shown as Figure 57; the Japanese print-
ed “Military Mail” was crossed out in pen. Postal charges would have been ap-
plied at the post office, The date of this card is unreadable. The postcard is from 
Akiko Furuta, Hojo, Niyugawacho, Shuso-gun, Ehime-Ken (Prefecture) to Ochi 
Amiyoshi, Philippines Expeditionary Force 1-10631 Unit HQ (Classification 3).
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Figure 57. 
Gunji Yuban military postcard used to correspond 
with a Japanese POW in the Philippines, on which 
the censor marking is crossed out in pen

 Some of the mail destined for the POWs in the Philippines made reference to 
“Camps” in the Japanese address. These camp names may have been assigned to the 
previous Japanese military unit or were a reference camp name given in Japan. Two such 
examples of camps referred to with Japanese names are detailed in Figures 58 and 59. 
Figure 58 illustrates a 5 sen postcard uprated with 10 sen in adhesives for a 15 sen rate 
from Tokyo, with a year of Shōwa 20, dated in manuscript 20-11-23 (November 23, 1945) 
to Hashimoto Yoshiro, PH #129 Logistical Hospital, “Kamakura Camp”, with Kamakura 
Camp listed as the destination in Japanese (Classification 3). Figure 59 details a 30 sen 
rated cover with a year of Shōwa 21, dated 21-01-2 (January 2, 1946) to Ishikura, Phol. 
Disp., I-10292 Unit, “Matsumoto Camp”, with Matsumoto Camp listed in Japanese as the 
destination.
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Figure 58. 
Five sen postcard up rated 10 sen for a total of 15 
sen, from Tokyo with notation in the address that the 
receiver is at the Kamakura Camp.

Figure 59.
Thirty sen cover from Japan with the
address noting that the receiver was at the 
Matsumoto Camp.

 A 15 sen postally rated post card, with a year of Shōwa 21, dated 21-09-17 (Sep-
tember 17, 1946) from Ōita Prefecture, Japan to Luzon POW Branch Camp, #8 Clark 
Field APO 719 is displayed as Figure 60.3
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Figure 60. 
Postcard to Luzon POW Camp #8 Clark Field. – courtesy Mr. Soeda3

 As can be seen from the material shown, there was a wide range of postage on the 
postcards and covers during this period, which may be due to unorganized postal matters 
after the surrender and for many years to come.

 All of the examples shown previously is incoming mail from Japan to POWs in the 
Philippines. Outgoing mail from Japanese POWs to Japan is rather uncommon, one such 
example is shown as Figure 61, which is from a soldier being held at the L.D.C. Station 
Hospital (Leyte Detention Center) to his mother in Japan. The writer sends his greet-
ing, talks about his conversations with other soldiers about different topics, misses home, 
dated February 24 (1946).
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 Figure 61. 
Letter posted to Japan by a Japanese POW being held at the Leyte Dentention Center Hospital.

 Other examples of mail from the Philippines to Japan will be shown and discussed 
in the next chapter “POW Postcards and Letter Sheets”.
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POW Postcards and Letter Sheets
After the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, the United States entered World War II against 
Japan, Germany and Italy. Internment camps where civilians of Japanese descent were 
interned for the duration of the war were established throughout the U.S. Post cards and 
letter sheets were issued in the United States to civilians of Japanese descent who were 
interned. These same post cards and letter sheets were later issued for the Japanese POWs 
and civilian internees in the liberated areas of the Pacific and the Philippines, which were 
previously under Japanese occupation.   

POW postcards
The cards were printed on a pale blue-green card stock that was specially treated so that 
it changed color when it absorbed moisture. This paper may have been used in case a 
prisoner tried to use disappearing ink or something else of that nature. The size was 5.5 x 
3.25-inches (140 mm x 82 mm). Cards were printed on two sides in black ink and printing 
was bilingual, in English and Japanese. There were three types of post cards, with form 
numbers that were used for the Japanese Prisoners of War. 
 Form numbers are listed on government printed forms, for the purpose of re-or-
dering. If a government department requested a reprint of a form/document, a requisition 
would be filled out and sent to the printing office and then the printer would check the 
form number in their file as to its location, remove the printing plate or type and proceed 
to press. Every time a copy change was made on a form, it would receive a new form 
number. The dates on these forms were mainly the first date the form was printed and if a 
copy change was required than the printing date was also changed, as can be seen on the 
following examples.  

 The abbreviations used on these cards and letter sheets are as follows: W.D. = War 
Department; P.M.G. + Provost Marshal General; A.G.O. = Adjutant General’s Office.
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Figure 62. 
 An unused example of the first Japanese POW card with the date of February 17, 1942.

Form 5, dated February 17, 1942
The first style of POW cards has a printed date of February 17, 1942, two months after the 
attack on Pearl. An unused example of this first card is displayed as Figure 62, with this 
printing information on the front bottom right corner of the card: W.D., P.M.G. Form No. 
5 / February 17, 1942.
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Form 5-1, dated November 1, 1942
A second card of identical design as Figure 62 is illustrated as Figure 63 in which the 
form no. is now 5-1, with a date of November 1, 1942.3

Figure 63. 
 An example of the first style of the Japanese POW card, but with the form no. 
changed to 5-1 and a date of November 1, 1942.3

Form 19-7, dated March 1, 1945
A third card appeared with a date of March 1, 1945. An unused example is exhibited as 
Figure 64. The front is basically the same as the first style except on the front of the card 
at the bottom left, where “WD AGO FORM / 1 MAR 1945 19-7, Supersedes WD PMG 
Form 5-1, 1 Nov. 1942”. The back on this post card is different from the previous two in 
that there are dotted lines for writing a message.

Figure 64.  
An unused example of the second Japanese POW post card with a March 1, 1945 date and form no. 19-7.
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 Two used examples of this Form 19-7 post card are exhibited, both used at POW 
Calamba Camp No. 1, Figure 65. The first is dated April 8, 1946 and it was censored in 
Japan with the PC shield censor handstamp. Figure 66 exhibits a post card censored in the 
Philippines with the boxed RELEASED BY CENSORSHIP. The PC Shield censor hand 
stamp was primarily used on mail of Japanese prisoners who were being held on lesser 
charges, while the boxed RELEASED BY CENSORSHIP hand stamp has been recorded 
used on mail of those serving more serious charges and used In the Philippines.

Figure  65. 
A used example of Form 19-7 post card, from a POW at Calamba No. 1 Camp, dated April 8, 1946, censored 
in Japan. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3

Figure 66.
A used example of Form 19-7 postcard from a POW at Calamba No. 1 Camp, dated March 30, 1946, cen-
sored in the Philippines. This POW was in prison for harsher crimes and was kept in the War Convicts 
Ward. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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 Another example of the scarce third type of POW card is shown as Figure 67. This 
card is from “Kishioka Takashi, 1-B, Sub-base “R”, POW Camp, Batangas, P.I.” and is 
dated May 9th, to a family member with Shōnai, Osaka Pref. Japan, May 31 indicated as 
the date of arrival.3 Mail from Batangas (as indicated at the bottom of the back of the 
card) is very uncommon. 

 Figure 67.
 A scarce used example of a POW post card from Batangas, dated May 9th, censored in Japan. – courtesy 
of Mr. Ogihara.3
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 A very unusual POW post card in which the text is bilingual English and Italian is 
illustrated as Figure 68. This example is from, Soeda Kirokichi in LUZON POW branch 
Camp #8, Clark Field APO 719, to a Mr. K. Soedka in Oita Pref., Japan.3 Compared to the 
previous post cards, which have Form 19-7, the Italian language is in place of the Japa-
nese. The date is the same except the Form number is 19-11 and some of the verbiage at 
the bottom right on the front of card is different. The only conclusion that I can attest to is 
that both cards were printed at approximately the same time and both have a date of No-
vember 1, 1942 and upon completion of the printing process those cards for the Japanese 
and Italians were in the same production area and the package with the Italian version was 
accidentally mixed into the Japanese version for transportation to Manila.

Figure 68.
POW post card that was to have been used by an Italian POW somewhere, accidentally been shipped to 
Manila and used by a Japanese POW. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philip-
pine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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Letter sheets
These letter sheets are multi-lingual, with the information printed in English, German, 
Italian and Japanese, with both sides printed in black on blue-green paper. The form num-
ber and production date are located at the bottom left corner on the inside of the form, be-
low the sender’s information. The letter sheets were to be used by POWs overseas as well 
as American civilians of Japanese descent in the United States for correspondence within 
the U.S. [Ed note: in Mr. Fumihiko’s publication, he illustrates on page 26 an example of 
the first type of letter sheet from an internment camp in New Mexico to Hsinking, Man-
chukuo that was posted on March 16, 1943, arriving at Chungking on November 6, 1944 
and reaching Hsingking on March 21, 1945, two years in travel. This example illustrates 
that these may also have be used for foreign destinations.]
 There were three types of letter sheets with form nos. used for the Japanese Prison-
ers of War. Information on these POW letter sheets was supplied by the excellent work 
by Yano Fumihiko.3  The form numbers and printing dates are: Form No. 4, February 17, 
1942; Form No. 4, June 11, 1943 and Form No. 19-4 January 1, 1945.4

Form No. 4, dated February 17, 1942
The first type of the POW letter sheet is printed in black on two sides of blue-green pa-
per, with a size of 6 x 14-inches (15 cm x 35.5 cm). This type had 3 folds which created 
4 panels and on the inside there were 24 ruled lines for writing a message and 4 lines for 
the senders name and address with a line in English, German, Italian and Japanese. The 
outside contains space for the receiver’s address, with lines in each of English, German, 
Italian and Japanese, along with PRISONER OF WAR in large bold-face type and POST-
AGE FREE. This first style of letter sheet differed from the previous in that a flap was 
inserted into a slit to close the form. An example of this first letter sheet with a production 
date of February 17, 1942 is reproduced here as Figure 69.3 Mr. Fumihiko states in his 
publication that he has seen an example of this first type used by a civilian in the Philip-
pines to Hyōgo-ken, a Prefecture in Japan.
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Figure 69. 
A black and white copy from Mr. Fumihiko publication showing the first type 
of letter sheet. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the 
Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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Form No. 4, dated June 11, 1943
The production of POW letter sheets with this date produced a different size, being 7-7/8 x 
14-inches (20 cm x 35.5 cm). The message area is made up of 19 boxed lines. An example 
of Form No. 4 with a June 11, 1943 date is illustrated as Figure 70; it is from Kato Yutaro, 
Luzon POW Camp #1, APO 75. There is a month of December 4 but no year is indicated. 
APO 75 was at Manila. (Luzon POW Camp No. 1 was at Calamba.) Kato was tried by the 
U.S. Military Commission and sentenced to LUPOW #1 (sentencing details unknown). 
This air letter form is going to Mie-ken, Japan, censored with the PC Shield censor hand 
stamp. The production information on this form is as follows: W.D., P.M.G. Form No. 4 
/ June 11, 1943.

Figure 70.
Letter sheet from Luzon POW Camp #1, APO 75 to Mie-Ken, Japan

(The next two pages show the back and front of this cover)
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 Figure 71 exhibits a partial letter sheet on which the address is in both English 
and Japanese. It was sent by a convicted war criminal at Luzon POW Camp #1 to Kochi 
Prefecture in Japan, dated July 1946. The front is censored by the boxed RELEASED BY 
CENSORSHIP hand stamp which was used on mail for those convicted of serious war 
crimes. A Japanese censor marking was added.

Figure 71.
Partial letter sheet from a convicted war criminal being held at Luzon Camp #1 to Japan. –courtesy of Japa-
nese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3

Form No. 19-4, dated January 1, 1945
This third type of letter sheet has the Form No. 19-4 and the P.M.G. has been replaced by 
the AGO. Also two lines have been added toward the center as earlier. The inside message 
portion of this example of Form 19-4 is exhibited as Figure 72. The letter sheet is from 
Lieutenant General Shizuo Yokoyama to his daughter in Japan. The sender was serving 
his sentence as a war criminal when this was written. [Ed note: the front of the letter sheet 
and information on the sender will be further discussed in the “War Crimes Section”.]
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Figure 72.
 An example of the message portion of Form 19-4. The letter sheet is from Lieutenant General Shizuo 
Yokoyama to his daughter in Japan.3
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Civilian Internees
Japanese civilians living in the Philippines at the time of the American liberation also 
were interned in either the camps or in detention centers. They would have been held in 
separate facilities from the soldiers, but under guard. These Japanese civilians in the Phil-
ippines were more than likely there serving the Japanese Government in the occupation as 
managers/consultants/overseers for the utility companies, for agricultural businesses and 
farms, for logistics and communication, and for municipal and provincial governments, as 
well as in financial and health and welfare roles.
 Mail from the civilian internees to Japan is not common, and I have never seen or 
had the chance to purchase such material. The few examples shown here are from Mr. 
Fumihiko’s publication. I believe they are from civilians because in both instances there is 
a serial number “51J#####” following their name. Examples from soldiers in Mr. Fumi-
hiko’s publication as well as in my own material have no serial numbers following their 
names. There were letter sheets prepared in the U.S. for those interned Japanese that had 
“INTERNEE OF WAR”, but none of these have been recorded as used in the Philippines. 
 Figure 73 exhibits a letter sheet on which the PRISONER OF WAR has been inked 
out and CIVILIAN INTERNEE added. This example is from a civilian at Luzon Camp #1, 
APO 75 (Manila) to his Filipina wife at Tabaco in Albay, dated November 9, 1945. Fol-
lowing his name is his serial number 51J20361. This is on the second type of letter sheet, 
Form 4, June 11, 1943.

 Figure 73. 
Letter sheet from a civilian internee at Luzon Camp #1 to his wife at Tabaco, Albay. – courtesy of Japanese 
Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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 Shown as Figure 74 is a cover to a civilian interned in the Philippines. Postally rat-
ed 10 sen, dated 21-3-6 (March 6, 1946) to Shinichi Hirai, Esq, 51J-41972, LDC Station 
Hospital, Leyte Detention Center, APO 72, which was located at Tacloban. It was posted 
at Shizuoka, Prefecture, Japan.3 The addition of “Esq.” and his serial number “51J-41972” 
after his name would indicate that he was a civilian. The receiver’s address is written in 
Japanese; also, a label typed with the information in English has been added to ensure 
delivery.

Figure 74. 
 A cover from Japan to a Japanese civilian internee at the Leyte Detention 

Center in the Philippines.3

 I believe Figure 75 was written by a civilian internee Furuta Akita at PHILRYCOM 
JAPANESE PRISONER STOCKADE, MANDALUYONG, RIZAL, LUZON, P.I. A.P.O. 
707 to Japan, dated 1947.9.5 (September 5, 1947). This letter sheet is the third type, Form 
19-4. On August 1, 1947 those Japanese who were convicted of war crimes were trans-
ferred from the U.S. POW camps at Madaluyong, Rizal and Canlubang, Laguna to Bilibid 
Prison at Muntinluiba, Rizal.6 Since the letter sheet was dated September 5, 1947, this in-
dicates that the sender had not been transferred to Bilibid and was not convicted with any 
war crimes charges and likely was being held as a civilian internee convicted of criminal 
charges. Civilian internees were all repatriated by the end of 1946.
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Figure 75. 
Letter sheet with the third type of letter sheet - Form 19-4 from Mandaluyong Stockade to Japan, believed 
to be from a civilian serving a sentence for criminal charges.3,4
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WAR CRIMES AND THE TRIALS
With the war against Japan over, the U.S., allied nations and countries that were formerly 
occupied by Japan began the process of bringing war-time criminal charges against Japa-
nese military, governmental and political officials for war-crime atrocities. The U.S. Sixth 
Army commanders in the Philippines formed a War Crimes Inquiry that obtained informa-
tion from the civilians. This led to the establishment of a War Crimes Tribunal located in 
Manila. Trials were held in Manila, Tokyo and Yokohama. There were four war crimes tri-
als that involved Japanese military personnel relating to the Philippines: The International 
Military Tribunal in the Far East (IMTFE) held in Tokyo; Yokohama War Crimes Trials 
held at Yokohama, Japan; U.S. Military Commission in the Philippines; and the National 
War Crimes Office (NWCO) in Manila. Figure 76 displays a newspaper article of Sep-
tember 25, 1945 in which General MacArthur announces that trials of Japanese accused 
of war crimes will begin soon.

Figure 76. 
Australian newspaper article mentioning that war crimes will begin soon. – Daily Telegraph (Sydney, NSW), 
September 25, 1945
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Figure 76. 
Australian newspaper article mentioning that war crimes will begin soon. – Daily Telegraph (Sydney, NSW), 
September 25, 1945

Japanese war crime trial cases were of three types: Class A, Class B or Class C crimes. 
Class A crimes were major cases such as conventional war crimes “joint conspiracy to plan, 
start and waging wars of aggression”; Class B crimes were “conventional war crimes” and 
Class C were “crimes against humanity”. Class A crimes were tried by a military tribunal 
at the IMTFE in Tokyo. Class B and C crimes were tried by military commissions as ap-
pointed by Headquarters of the U.S. 8th Army at Yokohama.7

International Military Tribunal for the Far East (IMTFE), (Tokyo)
The International Military Tribunal for the Far East (sometimes referred to as the Tokyo 
War Crimes Tribunal or the Tokyo Trial) convened on April 29, 1946 at the War Ministry 
office in Tokyo, with trials commencing on May 3, 1946. It was adjourned on November 
12, 1948. Figure 77 exhibits a newspaper article dated January 21, 1946 regarding the 
formation of the International Military Tribunal for the Far East.
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Figure 77. 
Continued next page
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Figure 77. 
Newspaper article featuring the story of the formation 
of the International Military Tribunal for the Far East. 
– West Australian (Perth), January 21, 1946

Class A Crimes
There were 28 Japanese political leaders and military personnel charged with Class A 
crimes and tried at the IMTFE. Of the 28 defendants who were on trial, two died during 
the trial and one was ruled mentally unfit; the remainder were found guilty on at least 1 
count, with sentences ranging from 7 years to death. Figure 78 shows the accused civilian 
and military officers standing as the tribunal judges enter the courtroom during their war 
criminal trial at the IMTFE.

Figure 78.
Photo of the accused Japanese civilian and military individuals at their IMTFE 
trial. – U.S. Federal Government photo, May 14, 1946
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 Seven of these 28 were sentenced to death by hanging and were executed in the 
early morning hours of December 23, 1948 at Sugamo Prison, Tokyo. Figure 79 illus-
trates a newspaper article listing the seven who were executed and their crimes.
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Figure 79.
Newspaper article listing the names of the seven who were executed at Sugamo prison for war crimes. – 
Western Australian (Perth), Thursday December 23, 1943

 Only one of those executed had direct contact with the Philippines: that was Lieu-
tenant General Akira Muto. General Muto was Vice Chief of Staff, China Expeditionary 
Force, 1937; director, military Affairs Bureau, 1939-1942; army commander in Sumatra, 
1942-43; army chief of staff in the Philippines in 1944-1945. In February of 1945, troops 
from his command were involved in the “Rape of Manila” in which over 100,000 Filipi-
nos were murdered. A photo of General Muto at the IMTFE trial is displayed as Figure 80.
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Figure 80. 
Photo of General Akira Muto at the IMTFE trial. – 
source unknown

Yokohama War Crimes Trials by the U.S. Eighth Army
Class B and C Crimes 
On December 5, 1945, with the authorization of SCAP, the commanding general of the 
U.S. 8th Army started to appoint a military commission to try Class B and Class C war 
crime cases in Yokohama. A newspaper article of December 10, 1945 makes mention that 
the Yokohama trials will begin on December 17th is exhibited as Figure 81.
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Figure 81. 
 Newspaper article making mention that the war crime trials will begin on December 17 at Yokohama. – 
Advertiser (Adelaide), December 10, 1945

 There were 996 Class B and Class C defendants who were charged, of whom 142 
were acquitted, 124 sentenced to death, 63 to life imprisonment and the remainder to 
prison terms.7 Some of those who were tried and sentenced at Yokohama with connec-
tions to the Philippines are displayed in various newspaper articles as Figures 82, 83 and 
84. Figure 82 makes mention of the execution of two senior officers who had ordered the 
Bataan death march. Figure 83 tells of Lt Junsaburo Toshino and Cpl Kazutane Aihara 
who were charged for the mistreatment of American POWs aboard the hell ship Oryoko 
Maru; both were also personally responsible for the beheading of 15 American POWs in a 
cemetery. Figure 84 “Gets 25 Years” talks about Iku Takasaki the former commander of 
the POW camps at Cabantuan and Davao, being sentenced to 25 years of hard labour.
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Figure 82. 
Newspaper article from Australia making mention of the ex-
ecution of General Kawane and Colonel Kirano, who were 
convicted for their role in the Bataan death march. – Argus 
(Melbourne), June 13, 1949.

Figure 83. 
Australian newspaper article mentioning the 
execution of Lt Toshino and Cpl Aihara for 
the beheading of 15 American POWS in a 
cemetery. – Advocate (Burnie, Tasmania), 
May 10, 1947.
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Figure 84. 
Canadian newspaper article mentioning that the former commander of the Cabantuan and Davao POW 
camps received 25 years of hard labour. – Hamilton Spectator, (Ontario, Canada), December 15, 1947.
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 Figure 85 illustrates a newspaper article outlining the last scheduled trial of a Japa-
nese war criminal at Yokohama.

Figure 85. 
Newspaper article mentioning the last of the war 
crimes trials at Yokohama. – West Australian (Perth), 
September 15, 1949

U.S. Military Commission (Manila)
This commission was held at the U.S. High Commissioner’s residence in Manila, and was 
overseen by five American generals who were the judges. The Commission began October 
7, 1945 to mid 1947. The Commission prosecuted over 169 defendants, of whom 133 were 
found guilty and 25 were given death sentences and 16 received life imprisonment. The 
remainder received sentences of varying years in jail. A cover is exhibited as Figure 86 
from a Manila law firm to the Chief, Investigation Section, War Crimes Branch, GHQ, AF-
PAC, APO 500, post marked December 1945. APO 500 was located at Manila at this time.
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Figure 86. 
 A cover from a Manila law firm to the War Crimes Branch, GHQ, AFPAC, postmarked December 1945.

     A cover from an American Japanese interrogator/interpreter is displayed as Figure 87 
ID Sgt. Richard Sakakida, War Crimes Invest. Det. APO 75 to a Robinson Reminders, 
Westfield, Massachusetts, and postmarked December 1945. APO 75 was located at 
Manila during this time.

Figure 87. 
 A cover from an American Japanese interrogator/interpreter to a U.S. resident in Massachusetts. – source 
unknown
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 Sgt. Richard Sakakida was one of the first two Japanese American citizens to be 
enlisted into the U.S. Army Counter Intelligence Corps and then integrated into the pre-
war Japanese community in the Philippines. These operatives were to obtain intelligence 
information about the Japanese residents and any military information that may have been 
obtained prior to the Japanese invasion. After the war, Sgt. Sakakida was part of the war 
crimes interrogation and investigative teams, and interrogated and testified against many 
of the Japanese who had tortured him for being a spy, Figure 88 exhibits a photo of him 
testifying at a war crimes trial. One of those he did testify against was General Yamshita.

Figure 88. 
Photo of Sgt. Richard Sakakida testifying at a war crimes trial in Manila. – corregidor.org

[Ed note: The important story of Sgt. Richard Sikakada, Counter Intelligence Corps and 
the declassified top secret work which he had done in the Philippines is discussed in a 
separate chapter at the end of this essay.]

 The two most notable Japanese officers to stand trial were General Yamashita and 
Lt. General Homma. An Australian newspaper article exhibited as Figure 89 makes refer-
ence to the U.S. Military Commission’s first war crimes trial, that of General Yamashita. 
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Figure 89. 
Australian Newspaper article detailing the U.S. Military Commission’s commencement of General Ya-
mashita’ trial. – Daily Telegraph (Sydney, NSW), October 8, 1945

 Trials began quickly and the first Japanese officer to be tried was General Tomoyuki 
Yamashita, “The Tiger of Malaya” as he became known for his 70-day campaign to cap-
ture Singapore and Malaya. Yamashita was tried for war crimes committed by his troops 
while he was in charge of the Philippines in 1944. The five American Generals who tried 
Yamashita are illustrated as Figure 90.
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Figure 90. 
Photograph of the five American Generals who tried Yamashita. Left to right: General M. C. Handwerk; Ma-
jor General Donovan; Major General Russell Reynolds, president; Major General James Lester: and Gener-
al Egbert Bullens. – George Mountz Collection, Yamashita Trial Photographs, Allen County Public Library, 
Fort Wayne, Indiana, Date October 31, 1945, Photographer U.S. Army Signal Corps, by Sgt. Sig Meyers.

 Captain George E. Mountz was a member of the prosecution team that prosecuted 
General Yamashita for war crimes. He was brought to Manila just prior to the commence-
ment of the trial and left shortly after the guilty verdict and sentencing. While at Manila, 
Mountz sent letters home to his wife and family virtually every day, outlining trial events 
as well as life in Manila. Displayed as Figure 91 is the first page of a two-page letter dated 
Manila 06 Oct 45 that details information for a dress rehearsal the day prior to General 
Yamashita’s plea hearing. 
 The first page of Mountz’s letter follows: 

“Manila
06 Oct 45 

Dearest,
Another Saturday has rolled around & if you read the papers you know that things are 
coming to a head rather fast.
 The arrangements are to have Gen. Yamashita plead on Monday, Oct. 8th. This will 
take place in the High Commissioners House where the trial is to be held. The Commis-
sion seem to be more worried about the Newsreels and Newspaper men than about the 
prosecutors or defence attorneys.
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 The present plan is to have a full dress rehearsal, Sunday PM, all officers must ap-
pear with all decorations & ribbons (I will appear blank as usual). Major Kerr advised 
me that I had to take part (stand around) in the arraignment so you want to watch the 
Newsreels on the arraignment of YAMASHITA . . .”

Figure 91. 
First page of a letter dated October 6, 1945 regarding the dress rehearsal for the plea of General Yamashita.8
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 Although Yamashita was not directly involved in the atrocities and crimes, he 
was aware of them and did nothing to stop them. A photo of Yamashita with a mem-
ber of the U.S. Military Police is displayed as Figure 92. Yamashita was held at the 
New Bilibid Prison and for security purposes was taken by ambulance to the residence 
of the Philippine High Commissioner, where the trial was held. It lasted from October 
29 to December 7, 1945 at which time he was found guilty and sentenced to death by 
hanging. Yamashita was executed on February 23, 1946 at Los Baños, Laguna Pris-
on Camp. Figure 93 shows a newspaper article that refers to the guilt of Yamashita.

Figure 92. 
Photo of Yamashita with Military Police 
Major Kenworthy. – National Archives and 
Records Administration.
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Figure 93. 
Australian Newspaper article outlining the guilty verdict and the sentence. – Daily Examiner (Grafton, NSW), 
December 8, 1945

 Captain Mountz wrote a four-page letter to his father on Dec. 7, 1945 regarding the 
guilty verdict of General Yamashita. This letter is a first-hand account of the proceedings. 
Due to its importance, it is reproduced in its entirety as Figure 94, and is transcribed as 
follows:  

Manila
07 Dec. 1945
Dear Dad,
The Wills of the Gods, as the quotation goes – and by strange coincidence four years to the 
Day from the Jap attack on Pearl Harbor, the top Jap Commander stood before a Military 
Commission & heard them find him guilty of failure to control his troops & condemned 
him to death.
 It was a tense scene at 2 PM today in the court room there at the High Commis-
sioners Palace. We arrived at 1:30 – the place was jammed full with all possible Standing 
Room taken, the M.P. guard had been doubled, and at both the Prosecution & Defence en-
trance additional M.P. men were standing & one M.P. officer on either side of the Bench. 
The movie lights were all on – we sat there for 15 minutes & promptly at 2 P.M. we were 
called to attention & the Commission entered.
 Gen. Reynolds began to read the Statement of the Commission (a copy herewith 
enclosed – save it for me) & as he read, with the newsreels grinding in the back ground, 
into three microphones broadcasting their result to the world; an unearthly silence came 
over the Courtroom as the General continued to read. I know personally the perspiration 
began to drip off me as the suspense continued to mount. 
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 Finally he reached the bottom of page 5 & Yamashita, Col. Clark & Homamota 
came before the bench. Yamashita ask & was given permtion [sic] to have Homamota 
read a prepared statement, redeclaring his innocence.
 Then the General read the verdict of Guilty & death by Hanging - & Immediately, 
Yamashita, Muto, (unclear) & Homamota were taken from the Room under heavy guard – 
still in dead silence.
 May I digress to say that Yamashita took it hard, great lines seemed to appear in his 
face he stumbled as he turned & his Military bearing was gone – as he was lead from the 
room.
 After the Japanese were clear of the area the Court adjourned to the rush of news-
room to their wires and the crowd getting out – it was all completed in just 20 minutes but 
what minutes of surprise & drama & in my humble opinion minutes when New History 
was written.
 As you will note on reading the opinion, they went right down the line on the ques-
tion of Command responsibility & failure to control his troops. It is a clear decision & the 
first real one in the history of war fare.
 Naturally it must be reviewed & MacArthur has the authority to reduce the sentence 
but that is anti-climax for we have done our job.
 I can only add that in my opinion he received a fair and complete trial, & while 
the rules of evidence were different from what we are used to, his rights as a person were 
protected in every way & he had every opportunity for a complete presentation of  his 
defence.
 As usual I am a little late but you know I’ll be thinking of you all Day on Dec. 11th 
and known you will have a very Happy Birthday. Peter & Pam will see that it is perfectly 
remembered.
 Love to all
 George”
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Figure 94. 
Historically-important four page letter dated December 7, 1945 regarding the guilty verdict 
and sentencing of General Yamashita.8

 The Yamashita prosecution team consisted of eight officers. A photo is presented as 
Figure 95, which also features Captain George Mountz.

Figure 95. 
Eight-member Yamashita prosecution team; left to right, Capt. Pace, Capt. Hill, Capt. Calyer, Lt. George 
E. Mountz, Major Robert Kerr, Capt. Webster, Major Opinion (Philippine Army). In rear 1st Lt. Yarde.8
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[Ed note: The letters that Captain George Mountz had written from Manila have been 
digitized and are on the web site of the Allen County Public Library along with 111 pho-
tographs taken of the trial and of war torn Manila. For those who wish to read these letters 
of the trials, the web site is in the reference section at the end of this essay8.]

 The second most notable and wanted Japanese officer was Lieutenant General Ma-
saharu Homma. He was the senior officer responsible for the Bataan Death March, which 
accounted for the killing of thousands of American and Filipino soldiers by the Japanese 
on their march to the POW camps. Because of his being too lenient to the Filipino people 
in peace and not aggressive in war, he was forced into retirement by the Imperial General 
Headquarters in August of 1943. In mid-September of 1945, Homma was arrested in Ja-
pan and was extradited to the Philippines, where he stood trial at an American Tribunal 
in Manila from January 3 to February 11, 1946. Details outlining the charges against 
Homma and some of the other senior officers on war crime charges is reproduced from a 
newspaper article shown as Figure 96. Figure 97 illustrates a photo of Captain George A. 
Furness, defense counsel, outlining objections to the trial.



96

Figure 96. 
 Australian newspaper article outlining the charges for which Homma as well as some of the other senior 
military officers would be standing trial.  – Kalgoorlie Miner (Western Australia), December 10, 1945

Figure 97. 
Captain George A. Furness, defense counsel, read-
ing into the records the official objections against 
the authenticity of the purpose of the military com-
mission hearing the trial. – National Archives and 
Records Administration

Homma was found guilty on February 11, 1946 on all counts of violating international 
rules of war relating to the atrocities committed by troops under his command during the 
Bataan Death March, and was sentenced  “to be shot to death with musketry”. He was ex-
ecuted on April 3, 1946 at Los Baños, Laguna  by an American firing squad. A newspaper 
photo of Homma after he was found guilty is shown as Figure 98 and Figure 99 gives 
details of his execution.
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Figure 98. 
Photo of Homma behind bars after being found 
guilty and being sentenced. – Daily Advertiser 
(Wagga Wagga, NSW), February 25, 1946

Figure 99. 
Newspaper article giving details of the execution of 
Homma. – Newcastle Sun (NSW), April 3 1946
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An example of a POW letter sheet form dated April 1946 to Miyagi, Japan from a Japa-
nese soldier tried by the US Military Commission is exhibited as Figure 100. Kagawa 
Unsaburo was held at Stockade #6, APO 450, which was at Batangas, Luzon. 
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Figure 100. 
POW letter sheet from Stockade #6, which was located at Batangas, Luzon to Miyagi, Japan. – courtesy of 
Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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 When the Philippines were granted their independence on July 4, 1946, they were 
no longer a Commonwealth in the United States of America and were now a republic and 
responsible for their own affairs. On August 1, 1947, war crimes cases were transferred to 
the Republic of the Philippines. The U.S. Military Commission continued to finish the tri-
als that were in progress. This transformation of responsibility was completed by the end 
of 1947.   

Philippine Court 
September 1945 saw the establishment of a Peoples Court, which was used to try Filipino 
civilians who had collaborated with the Japanese. [Ed note: This court falls outside the 
scope of this essay and is only mentioned for information purposes.] 

National War Crimes Office (Manila) (NWCO)
On  July 4, 1946, the Philippine Islands were granted their independence and became the 
Republic of the Philippines. With this change, a lot of the laws had to be rewritten because 
they were no longer a Commonwealth but now an independent nation. The United States 
military turned over the trials for the war crimes to the new NWCO, after negotiations 
with the new Philippine government the United States agreed to the following conditions: 
the U.S. army retain custody of Japanese war crimes suspects and deliver them for trail as 
required; the U.S. army assume responsibility for the transfer to Japan and incarceration 
of those convicted and given less than death sentences;  the Philippine government be 
provided with Japanese interpreters and counsel to act as defense attorneys; that facilities 
and equipment currently used by the Legal Section Manila Branch be loaned to the Phil-
ippine government for use in its war crimes trials; and that Legal Section Manila Branch 
keep sufficient staff in the Philippines to advise on the conduct of the trials. On May 6, 
1947 Legal Section agreed to the demands of the Philippine government and by early July 
orders had been issued to accommodate the Philippine government’s requests. With this 
agreement, the Philippine government assumed responsibility for trying the balance of 
Japanese war crime suspects in the Philippines and the U.S. continued to provide support.9 
On July 29, 1947, President Roxas signed an Executive Order No. 68 that established a 
National War Crimes Office whose purpose was to collect information and evidence on 
Japanese war crimes and atrocities.
 While negotiations were proceeding between the Philippine Government and the 
U.S. on transferring the war crimes trials to the Philippines jurisdiction, the U.S contin-
ued to proceed with the collecting of evidence and bringing to justice those involved in 
the atrocities, Figure 101 displays a cover from a member of the War Crimes Trials to 
Dorothy Ann Miller, of Illinois, postmarked April 8, 1947. Dorothy Miller was listed as a 
civilian internee at Santo Tomas. 
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Figure 101. 
War Crimes Trials cover from Manila to a civilian internee who was interned

 at Santo Tomas Internment Camp.

 August 1, 1947 saw the first trial to be held by the NWCO. In this trial, Captain 
Chūshirō Kudō was found guilty for offences at Laguna in February 1945. He was sen-
tenced to death by hanging and was executed on August 13, 1948. In all, there were 155 
defendants who stood trial; 128 were army, 19 navy and 8 civilians. Death sentences were 
given to 79 defendants; there were 31 life sentences and 28 prison terms; 11 were found 
not guilty and the other 6 had charges dismissed or cases suspended. The eight civilians 
that stood trial were of Japanese descent, two of whom were sentenced to death by hang-
ing. One had his charges dismissed, four received prison terms and one was found not 
guilty. The two civilians who were sentenced to death had their sentences commuted to a 
term of life in prison.9

 One of those sentenced to death was Lt. General Shizuo Yokoyama, for being in-
volved with the killing of approximately 100 Filipinos in Batangas Province in April 
1945. Yokoyama was found guilty and sentenced to death by musketry on May 23, 1949. 
He was later sentenced to life in prison in the pardons of 1953 and was fully pardoned on 
December 28, 1953. A POW letter form from General Yokoyama to his daughter Michiko 
in Tokyo that was written on June 6, 1948 is displayed as Figure 102. This letter was 
written while he was incarcerated at the New Bilibid Prison (NBP), referred to as Muntin-
lupa at Mandaluyong, Rizal, while awaiting his execution. The letter in the envelope was 
censored and it was resealed with the translucent military censor tape. A PC Shield cen-
sor hand stamp and a boxed Japanese censorship hand stamp were applied. [Ed note; 
the inside contents of the form and form number are described under POW letter sheets 
earlier in this essay as Figure 72.] While at NBP, Yokoyama developed tuberculosis.10 In 
the pardons of July 3, 1953, his sentence was commuted to life in prison in Japan at the 
Sugamo Prison and later that year in December he was granted a full pardon.9 [Ed note: 
more information on the pardons will be discussed below under the heading “Pardons”]
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Figure 102. 
Front of a letter sheet from General Yokoyama to his daughter that was written on June 6, 1948 while he 
was awaiting his execution at NBP.
 The last trial of the NWCO was concluded at the end of 1949.
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New Bilibid Prison (NBP) / Old Bilibid Prison (OBP)
Part of the original agreement for the Philippine government to accept responsibility for 
the war crimes trials was that the U.S. military would retain custody of prisoners await-
ing trial and be responsible for the Japanese who were convicted and sentenced to life or 
lesser prison terms. Hopefully, these prisoners would be repatriated to Japan and serve the 
remainder of their sentences at Sugamo Prison in Tokyo. Those that received the death 
penalty were to be transferred to the custody of the Philippine Government.9 On August 
1, 1947, those Japanese who were convicted were transferred from the U.S. POW camps 
at Madaluyong, Rizal and Canlubang, Laguna to the New Bilibid Prison at Muntinluiba, 
Rizal.6

 Old Bilibid Prison was constructed by the Spanish in 1865 and was referred to as 
“Carcel y Presidio Correctional” or as in English “Correctional Jail and Military Prison”. 
The “Carcel” section of the prison could hold 600 inmates while the “Presidio” accom-
modated 527 prisoners. Figure 103 displays an aerial photo of the old prison. A photo of 
the gated entrance to the prison with American military guards, is displayed as Figure 
104. Note the Japanese lettering on each side of the gate.

Figure 103. 
An aerial view of the Old Bilibid Prison taken in 1945. – Photo by Louis Nevin Hodges Sr., 
photographer in the United States Army Air Force in the Pacific Theater of Operations.
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Figure 104. 
Photo of the gated entrance to OBP, with American military guards. Note the Japanese lettering on either 
side of the gate.

 Due to increasing rates of crime over the years, construction began on a new prison 
in 1936. In 1940 the inmates were transferred to the new constructed facility; in 1941 the 
new facility became known as “The New Bilibid Prison”, “The New Bilibid Prison in 
Muntinlupa” or just “Muntinlupa”. During the Japanese occupation of the Philippines, the 
NBP was used as a POW and civilian internment facility while the OBP was used through-
out the occupation by the Japanese Kempeitai (military police) for the holding of Filipino 
special prisoners. In 1945, the NBP was used by the Americans as a facility holding Japa-
nese war crime prisoners. An early 1950 photo (Figure 105) shows the main entrance to 
the NBP, and a modern photo of the NBP is exhibited as Figure 106.
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Figure 105. 
A 1950s photo of the main gate at Muntin-
lupa. – courtesy of Japanese Military Person-
nel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands 
by Yano Fumihiko3

Figure 106.
Modern photo of New Bilibid 

Prison in Muntinlupa.

 On May 27, 1948, Major Eleuterio Fojas, chief of the NWCO, sent a formal request 
for the transfer of prisoners to NBP. This was “absolutely necessary” because “there are 
now more prisoners condemned to death than can be accommodated at the Prisoners of 
War stockade under the custody of the U.S. Army.” This request was granted by the Jus-
tice Secretary and by June 1, 20 convicted-to-death Japanese were transferred to NBP. By 
the end of the year, the transfer to NBP of the remainder of the Japanese prisoners– both 
suspects and those sentenced–was completed.9 The Philippine Government wanted con-
trol of the Japanese prisoners because they felt the U.S. might consider a peace treaty with 
Japan and the Japanese would then want control over the war criminals, something the 
Philippine Government would not accept at this time.9 
 At NBP, those Japanese sentenced to death were housed on the ground floor of one 
of the buildings in cells accommodating three men each. They wore blue uniforms to dis-
tinguish them from the other prisoners. The Japanese prisoners who were sentenced to life 
or lesser terms or were awaiting trial wore red uniforms; they were originally housed in a 
separate building, but were later transferred to the same building as those condemned to 
death.
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 Mail posted by the Japanese prisoners at NBP was censored and backstamped with 
a large double ring handstamp in purple that was signed and dated. A clear example of this 
is displayed as Figure 107.  

Figure 107. 
Example of the type of censor backstamp used on Japanese 
prisoner mail at NBP. – Philippine Philatelic News, Volume XII, 
No. 3, Third Quarter, 1990

 A cover sent from General Yokoyama to his daughter, Miss Yokoyama-Michiko, is 
shown as Figure 108. It was written on December 12, 1948 and censored one day later, 
with the prison censor handstamp, and recensored upon arrival in Japan with the CCP 
shield censor hand stamp. The information on the cover is in both Japanese and English.6

Figure 108. 
Cover from General Yo-
koyama to his daughter in 
Japan, sent while he was in 
Bilibid Prison. – Philippine 
Philatelic News, Volume XII, 
No. 3, Third Quarter, 1990



107

 Another cover from General Yokoyama is displayed as Figure 109. In this case, 
the cover was written in Japanese and addressed to his wife, Mrs. Yokoyama-Misayo and 
was sent out by the Repatriation Relief Office, Bureau of Demobilization, Judicial Affairs 
Investigation Section (rubber-stamped Kanji inscription on the reverse).6

 Figure 109. 
Cover from General Yokoyama to his wife in Japan. – Philippine Philatelic News, Volume XII, No. 3, 
Third Quarter, 1990
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 Figure 109A illustrates a bilingual addressed posted cover from the New Bilibid 
Prison to Tokyo, showing the censorship marking on the back dated November 6, 1949.  
Note the envelope corner indicating Bureau of Prisons, New Bilibid Prison, Muntinlupa, 
Rizal, Philippines.

Figure 109A. 
 Cover from a Japanese prisoner at the New Bilibid Prison in 1949. – courtesy Stampedia Auction, Japan
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 The spiritual needs of the Japanese prisoners were administered by Buddhist monks 
and Christian ministries. One such Buddhist monk was Shunin Kagao; a cover from him 
to General Yokoyama’s wife in Japan is exhibited as Figure 110. The cover is postmarked 
July 11, 1951. It entered the regular mail service to Tokyo, Japan. The reverse of the cover 
shows censorship with the Bilibid Prison large censor marking.6

Figure 110. 
Cover from Buddhist monk Shunin Kagao to General Yokoyama’s wife in Japan, with the Bilibid Prison 
censor marking on the back. – Philippine Philatelic News, Volume XII, No. 3, Third Quarter, 1990

 Figure 111 illustrates a cover from a Japanese prisoner Sergeant Kiyomitsu Kita-
jima, who was serving a life sentence at NBP for his actions in Mountain Province from 
May to September 1944. The cover to Del Monte, Quezon City was postmarked on No-
vember 28, 1950. Kitajima was pardoned on July 4, 1953.9
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Figure 111. 
Cover posted from New Bilibid Prison written by Kiyomitsu Kitajima to a Filipino at Del Monte, Quezon 

City.

 With the San Francisco Peace Treaty signed on September 8, 1951, the Philippine 
authorities now probably allowed more mail to Japan to leave NBP from the jailed war 
criminals. Japanese prisoners had access to a letter sheet provided by the Department of 
Justice, Bureau of Prisons, B.P. Form No. 58. It was on light blue paper. An unused copy 
of the top and bottom of the form is shown as Figure 112.3
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Figure 112. 
A copy of the top and bottom of the Prisoner’s Letter form No. 58 that was prepared for the Japanese pris-
oners at Bilibid Prison. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by 
Yano Fumihiko3

 Figure 113 illustrates a written copy of the Prisoner’s Letter form dated October 16, 
1951 from former Japanese Captain Masao Ono. It is addressed to a prisoner at Sugamo 
Prison in Tokyo. This letter was carried by favor by an employee of the Welfare Ministry 
Relief Office to the addressee. The writer had placed a scenic black-and-white sketch on 
the front. On the back of the form, 20 men had written 2- or 3-line messages.3 Masao Ono 
was sentenced to death by hanging for atrocities committed at Cayagan during March and 
April of 1945. He was committed to a life sentence at Sugamo Prison in the pardons on 
July 4, 1953 and fully pardoned on December 28, 1953.9
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Figure 113. 
Bilibid Prisoner’s Letter form No. 58 that was prepared for the Japanese prisoners. 
This form was sent on October 18, 1951 to a prisoner at Sugamo Prison, Tokyo. The 
sender had drawn a sketch on the front of the form. – courtesy of Japanese Military 
Personnel Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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 In January of 1952 efforts were taking place on a large scale to try to get the incar-
cerated Japanese at NBP repatriated to Japan. One of the companies heavily involved in 
this campaign was NHK, Nippon Hōsō Kyōkai (Japan Broadcasting Association). One of 
their means was by sending voice broadcasts of the prisoners back to Japan. Also, 550 let-
ters were brought to NBP from Japan via NHK on April 11, 1952. Picture postcards were 
provided by NHK featuring an NHK studio in Japan with a special ‘Imo-han” cachet. 
These were taken back to Japan for posting. An example of this card with its cachet is 
featured as Figure 1143

Figure 114. 
NHK postcard (with a special cachet) given to prisoners 
at NBP, later taken to Japan by NHK, and posted there 
on April 10, 1953. – courtesy of Japanese Military Personnel 
Prisoners’ Mail in the Philippine Islands by Yano Fumihiko3
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PARDONS
With the last of the Philippine trials completed by the end of 1949, 138 men were convict-
ed of one or more charges and more than three quarters of these men received sentences 
of death or life in prison. With the U.S. tribunals in the Philippines, 90 received death sen-
tences, of which 69 were executed. Those who received lesser sentences were incarcerated 
at Sugamo prison in Tokyo, with some not receiving their release until 1957 and 1958.9 At 
the end of 1949, a newspaper story appeared in the Newcastle Morning Herald and Min-
ers’ Advocate describing a petition with over 3000 signatures from the families and friends 
of 140 criminals convicted in the Philippines, asking that they be allowed to serve their 
sentences in Japan, A copy of this story is illustrated as Figure 115.

 Figure 115. 
Copy of a newspaper story about a petition asking the Philippines for the convicted 
war criminals to serve the balance of their sentence in a Japanese prison. – Newcastle 
Morning Herald and Miners’ Advocate (New South Wales), December 31, 1949
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 On January 19-20, 1951, 14 more Japanese were executed for their war crimes. 
Buddhist priest Kagao Shūnin became aware of these executions and alerted the Japa-
nese government, ignoring the warning by the Philippine government not do discuss the 
executions. In mid-February, Kagao also became aware of another set of executions that 
were to take place when 10 new graves were dug. Again Kagao notified the Japanese 
Government. During the balance of 1951, many petitions were forwarded to Malacañan 
(the presidential palace). In addition, there was discussion between the Japanese and Phil-
ippines governments. During 1952, discussions between the two countries continued at a 
slow pace towards the commuting of the death sentences and serving the war criminals’ 
time in Japan.9

 In January 1952, Philippine President Quirino made assurances that there would be 
no more executions. And in February, he added that there might be more pardons and that 
he hoped to return the war criminals to Japan as soon as possible. Keeping them in the 
Philippines was uneconomical.9   

 In August 1952 an Australian newspaper story reported that Japan has had no re-
sponse from Australia, Britain, the United States, France, Netherlands and the Philippines 
regarding paroles and having war criminals serve the balance of their sentences in a Japa-
nese prison. This article is displayed as Figure 116.

Figure 116.
  A copy of a newspaper story reporting that the Japanese government has had no response to its requests 
to parole some war criminals and have others serve the balance of their sentences in Japan. – Herald (Mel-
bourne), August 9, 1952
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 In September 1951 at San Francisco, a peace treaty was signed, in which Article 14 
acknowledged that Japan would be responsible for paying for reparations. With limited 
resources available in Japan, they chose to negotiate with Allied Powers, seeking compen-
sation individually. In early 1952, Japanese and Philippines representatives met to discuss 
reparations. The Philippines was seeking $8 billion payable over a period of 10-15 years, 
with the Japanese government paying interim reparations prior to the Philippines ratifica-
tion of the peace treaty. The Japanese acknowledged that they should pay reparations, but 
to them the amount was excessive. Since the Philippines had not ratified the peace treaty, 
they had no obligation to pay reparations, so they left for home. The cat-and-mouse game 
continued through the balance of 1952 and 1953; the Philippines had something that Japan 
had wanted, “Japanese prisoners to come home” and Japan had something the Philippines 
wanted, “money for reparations”, for which the Japanese felt was in excess to damages.9

 On June 27, 1953, the Philippine government announced that it intended to repatri-
ate all Japanese war criminals still held in the Philippines. Those Japanese who were sen-
tenced to life or term sentences would be granted freedom and those who were sentenced 
to death would have their sentences commuted to life with their sentence to be served at 
Sugamo prison in Tokyo. President Quirino’s statement on amnesty would become effec-
tive July 4th (Philippine Independence Day) about which a newspaper story is shown in 
Figure 117. [Ed note: one of those mentioned in the newspaper story is Lt-General Yo-
koyama; several of his correspondences from NBP are exhibited in this essay.]



117

Figure 117. 
Newspaper article giving details of the general amnesty by the Philippine government to the Japanese war 
crime prisoners. – Advocate (Burnie, Tasmania), June 30, 1953

 Some of the conditions of this pardon/amnesty that were agreed upon by both Japa-
nese and Filipinos were:
1) The Japanese government would take care of the proper maintenance and support of 
the prisoners.
2) It the Philippine courts (where there sentences were transferred) should see that those 
concerned serve.
3) None of the prisoners with commuted sentences were to be given clemency or parole 
by the Japanese government without prior Philippine approval.10

 On July 15, 1953 a Japanese ship left Manila with the Japanese prisoners on board. 
It arrived at Yokohama on July 21. Figure 118 illustrates “the loading of the urns contain-
ing the ashes of 17 executed war prisoners”. 
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Figure 118
A photo of the loading of the 
urns containing the ashes of 17 
executed war criminals. –
 Manila Bulletin

 Upon arrival of the ship at Yokohama, there was a joyous occasion as displayed in 
Figure 119 in which a repatriated war criminal is greeted by his mother.

Figure 119. 
A photo of a repatriated war criminal embracing his mother. – 

Daily Telegraph (Sydney), July 30, 1953
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 In 1956 the Japanese and Philippine governments finally reached an agreement on 
the amount of reparations to be paid by Japan. The total was $550 million, a far cry from 
the $8 billion originally sought. This $550 million was to be in capital goods and services 
paid over a 20-year period. The settlement also agreed that Japanese private firms would 
extend commercial loans totaling $250 million. With this agreement, the way was paved 
for the Philippine government to ratify the San Francisco Peace Treaty of 1951 so Japan 
and the Philippines were no longer at war.9

 On December 28, 1953, those Japanese war criminals who had their death sen-
tences commuted to life at Sugamo prison were pardoned and were now free.   

SUGAMO PRISON
Originally built in 1895, in the European style of prisons, Sugamo Prison became the 
home to Japanese criminals and by the 1930s was home to political prisoners such as com-
munists and others who had ideas contrary to the Japanese “Peace Preservation Laws” of 
the 1930s and 1940s. During World War II, the prison held allied spies, and even executed 
Soviet spy master Richard Sorge, who was hanged on November 7, 1944.
 The prison survived the Tokyo bombings undamaged and after the war it was used 
by the Americans to house those Japanese who were awaiting war crimes trials. Japanese 
found guilty of war crimes and given death sentences from both the trials of the IMTFE 
and the Yokohama War Crimes Trials were executed by hanging at the prison. Figure 
120 exhibits a 1945 photo of Sugamo Prison, which was used to detain arrested Japanese 
politicians and military officers for war crimes while awaiting trial. Figure 121 depicts a 
photo of the gated entrance to the prison. Figure 122 displays a photo of the prison under 
the night lights in 1948 

Figure 120. 
A 1945 photo of Sugamo Prison, which housed arrested Japanese politi-
cians and military officers for war crimes while awaiting trial.
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Figure 121.
 A photo of the gated entrance to Sugamo

Figure 122. 
Night photo of Sugamo Prison in December 1948.
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 In July 1953, the Philippine Government granted a pardon to those Japanese being 
held at Bilibid Prison; those who were sentenced to life in prison or were to serve a term 
of years in custody were granted a pardon. Those awaiting the death penalty had their sen-
tences commuted to life in prison and were to serve it at Sugamo prison,. They were given 
full pardon on December 28, 1953.
 One of the most well known inmates of Sugamo Prison was Iva Toguri D’Aquino 
or the woman more commonly referred to by American soldiers as “Tokyo Rose”. A mug 
shot of Tokyo Rose is illustrated as Figure 123.

Figure 123. 
Mug shot of Iva Toguri D’Aquido, commonly known as Tokyo Rose, 

taken at Sugamo Prison in 1946.

 In 1962, Sugamo prison closed, and in 1971 the buildings were demolished.
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Richard Sakakida11

Richard Motoso Sakakida was one of five children, born 
on November 19, 1920 at Puuene, Maui, Hawaii. The 
family moved to Honolulu in 1923, and after his father 
passed away in 1927, the siblings were raised by a sin-
gle mother. Richard attended McKinley High school and 
Hongwanji Japanese Language School, graduating from 
both in 1939.
 Relationships between the United State and Japan 
were deteriorating after Japan’s invasion of China, and 
the U.S. realized that it was a matter of time before Ja-
pan would have its eye on territorial lands in the Pacific 
and the Pacific Rim. General MacArthur’s headquarters 
in the Philippines had requested two Niseis to be recruit-
ed into the Corps of Intelligence Police (CIP) in which 
these two would work undercover within the Japanese 
community in the Philippines.
 On April 21, 1941, Richard Sakakida and Arthur 
Komori (the other Nisei agent) jumped ship at Manila

and began to merge into the Japanese community.  
 With the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor and the landing of Japanese soldiers on 
Philippine soil, the Americans began detaining Japanese civilians at the Japanese Club 
House. Richard was detained by the Philippine Constabulary as being a Japanese spy. He 
was later released by an American officer and continued with his duties. With the Japa-
nese occupation, he was later arrested and interrogated by the Japanese Military Police 
and the Judge Advocate General’s section of the 14th Japanese Army informing him he 
was on trial for treason. Being of Japanese ancestry, it was deemed that he was a Japanese 
citizen and could be tried for treason. Sakakida’s mother had registered Richard’s birth at 
the Japanese Consul in Hawaii as was the custom, which would make him an honorary 
Japanese citizen. She had the foresight to officially void this registration in August of 1941 
when he left for the Philippines, which meant he was not a Japanese citizen and could not 
be charged for treason, an event credited with saving his life. He was later charged with 
minor crimes and the interrogations continued.   
 In February of 1943, he was removed from Bilibid Prison and taken to the residence 
of Colonel Nishiharu, Chief Judge Advocate of the 14th Army Headquarters, where he 
was to work in the office doing general work and also serve as the Colonel’s houseboy at 
his home. His house-boy job did not last that long as the Colonel discovered that Sakakida 
had been dipping into his supply of American cigarettes and had him removed from the 
house. Now the only job he had was to work in the office and do his general office duties. 
With this change, he was to live in the former English Club in Manila City, which had now 
been converted into a civilian barracks with strict conditions—a roll call at 0600 and 2230 
hours and a bed check at midnight. Being fluent in Japanese and English, he was able to
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assist the Philippine citizens in many ways. One person he helped was Mrs. Tupas, the 
wife of Ernest Tupas, formerly of the CIP and being held at Bilibid Prison. While fill-
ing out visitation forms for Mrs. Tupas and other wives of guerilla members, Sakakida 
planned to break them out of Bilibid. After bed check, he left his barracks and with four 
other guerillas dressed as Japanese officers, they went to the main gate, overpowered the 
guards. More guerillas ran into the compound and released nearly 500 guerillas. Sakakida 
was able to get back to his bed at the 0630 roll call and when he was at his job in the morn-
ing, the superintendent of Bilibid Prison came to the Colonel to inform him of the prison 
break.
 On another occasion Sakakida had learned of the plans for a Japanese Expedition-
ary Force to Australia. He was able to get this information to Tupas, who relayed this to 
MacArthur in Australia. U.S. submarines were waiting and of the 15 Japanese vessels 
involved, only one returned to the Philippines. The rest were sunk.
 In June 1945, Sakakida began to get the feeling that the Japanese police were 
watching him and he decided to flee to the jungle to fight with the guerillas. In a fire 
fight, Sakakida was wounded and was left behind. For three months he tended to his own 
wounds and lived off the land until he came across some U.S. soldiers, who took him into 
custody as a spy, and held him until two officers from the CIC arrived to release him. 
 After healing of his wounds, he became involved in the war crimes trials―identi-
fying, interrogating and assisting in the trials. Many of those in the past who had interro-
gated and tortured him were now seeing him in a U.S. uniform and interrogating them.
 In September of 1975, after 34 years of military service, Sakakida retired as a Lt 
Colonel. He was awarded the Philippines Legion of Honor and the Bronze Star and Pris-
oner of War Medal ((he was posthumously awarded the Distinguished Service Medal on 
October 28, 1998). He was inducted into the Military Intelligence Corps Hall of Fame in 
1988 and also into the Air Force Office of Special Investigations Hall of fame.
 Sakakida passed away on January 23, 1996 after a lengthy illness complicated by 
his war wounds.   
 In 1994, the Philippines issued two 2-Peso stamps to commemorate the 50th anni-
versary of the escape of nearly 500 guerillas. The stamp is illustrated in Figure 124.

Figure 124. 
Pair of 2 Peso stamps issued for the 50th anniversary of the escape of nearly 500 guerillas from Bilibid 
Prison.
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Official First Day Cover with pair of stamps and Manila CPO, December 8, 1994 special postmark

Cover with First Issue of 1994 (top) and Second Issue of 1995 with lighter colors and 
Cabanatua City Hall, May 15, 1995 postmark with waves



125

Conclusion
Published discussion of the topic of this book is understandably infrequent. Post-war mail 
to and from the Japanese POWs is scarce. Presumably family members and historians 
have retained any remaining related correspondence. In addition―for various reasons―
many philatelists may not want to collect artifacts that remind them of war crimes com-
mitted over 75 years ago. Nonetheless, there is sufficient material available to provide the 
story of its delivery. The aim of this book is to describe to Philippine collectors a summary 
of the postal artifacts currently recorded regarding this chapter of World War II history.
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